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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

ANDRE LAWRENCE,

Petitioner, CaseNo. 09 CV 6797

V. Wayne R. Andersen
District Judge
UNITED STATESOF AMERICA,

N N N N N N N N N

Respondent.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

This matter comes before the court on thigtipe of Andre Lawrence (“Petitioner” or
“Lawrence”), as a prisoner inderal custody, for a writ of habeegrpus to correct his sentence
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §2255. Lawcerargues that he receivedfieetive assistance of counsel
in that his attorney (1) failed to challenge tiigninal history category and (2) failed to timely
move to dismiss a count of the indictment.r e reasons set forbelow, the petition is
granted.

BACKGROUND

On July 16, 2002, Lawrence was chargeith whe following counts in a multi-count
indictment: (Count 1) conspiring tlistribute and possess with intéo distribute controlled
substances within 1000 feet of an elemengahyool, in violation of 21 U.S.C. 88 841(a)(1),
860(a), 846; (Count 39) possessiny@arm in furtherance of a drug trafficking crime, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 924 (c)(1)(A) and (Bnd (Count 40) possessiadirearm while being
a felon, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 8922(g)(1A jury trial began on September 16, 2003. In the
government’s opening statement, the governmextittsney mentioned two guns that were found

during a search of Lawrence’s house. The atfpstated, “those guns make up the charges of
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Andre Lawrence being a felon in possessionwsidg a gun in furtherance of a drug crime.”
(Government’s Resp. &t(citing Tr. 50).)

On November 5, 2003, the government motedismiss Count 40, possessing a firearm
while being a felon, in violation of 18 U.S.8922(g)(1), against Lawrence. On December 1,
2003, defense counsel moved for a mistrial dubdégyovernment’s reference to Lawrence’s
status as a felon in opening statement. (Gawent's Resp. at 3 (citg Tr. 5611).) The Court
denied that motionld.

On December 18, 2003, a jury found Lawrence guilty of both Count 1 and Count 39.
Lawrence then filed a Motion for a New Trial &ebruary 10, 2004, alleging errors including the
government’s reference in their opening statemehistgtatus as a felon. On June 29, 2005, this
Court denied the motion for a new trial. TRisurt noted that “the one brief mention” of a
previous felony conviction “was ndiscussed again and was nasea in closing argument” and
that it was “fanciful to believe that in course of [a] three-and-a-half month trial the one reference
to defendant Andre Lawrence’dda status affected the outcomkthe case.” (Government’s
Resp. at 4 (citing Tr. (6/29/05) 24).)

On May 6, 2004, the government submitted/éssion of the offense and stated its
position that Lawrence’s criminal history cgtey was | based on a January 1995 conviction for
possession of a controlled substance. (GovernmBetg. at 4.) In the Presentence Investigation
Report (“PSR”), the probation officer determined that Lawrence’s criminal history category was
lll, based on (1) an April 1990 finding of delinquency in the Juvenile Court of Cook County for
retail theft, (2) a June 199(htiing of delinquency in the Juvenile Court of Cook County for
aggravated battery, (3) a Janu&aBg5 conviction for possessionatontrolled substance that

was referenced in the government’s May 6, 2004iaersf the offense, and (4) a finding that the



defendant committed the instant offense while under probation from the January 1995
conviction. PSR at 8-9.

On May 12, 2005, June 21, 2005, and August 29, 2005 Petitioner, along with several co-
defendants, filed motions challengisgveral aspects of the juryiadings and to bar application
of enhanced penalties pursuant to 21 0.8.851. (Government's Resp. at 5.)

On September 5, 2005, Petitioner filed a sentencing memorandum. (Dkt. 898 in case 02
CR 200). Inthat memorandum, he noted the disagreement between the government’s position
that his criminal history category was | and phebation officer’s position in the PSR that his
criminal history category was lllld. at 3. He stated his positi that his criminal history
category should be I, which would result in a range of less than 360 mébdthas 5.

Petitioner was sentenced on September 19, 2006.Court determined that it would
“stand by the level 40, criminal history IlI” btlten gave a below-Gdeline sentence of 300
months imprisonment on the drug conspiraopviction and a consecutive 60 months
imprisonment on the gun charge becauseéCihigrt found that Lawrence was “somewhat less
involved in the conspiracy than the other coddémts.” Tr. (9/19/05) 63-65. The Court also
stated that “the criminal histy category of Il correctly computed is not reflective of past
violent crimes.” Id. at 66.

Lawrence filed a timely notice of appeal on September 26, 2005. He joined his co-
defendants in filing a joint brief on sentencingugs in which he argued that he and his co-
defendants’ Sixth Amendment rights were ateld and challenged the sufficiency of the
evidence supporting his conviction @ount 39 (the gun charge). ldi&l not raise the issue that
the Court erred in calculating his criminal bist category or Guidelineange, nor did he argue

that the Court erred in not dading a mistrial based on thexgernment'’s reference in opening



statements to his status as a felon. Theefh Circuit affirmed Petitioner’s conviction and
sentence on March 24, 2008ee United Sates v. Seymour, 519 F.3d 700 (7th Cir. 2008).

Lawrence filed the instant petition on OctoB&, 2009. In his petition, Lawrence claims
that he is entitled to religfue to the alleged ineffectivess of his counsel. Specifically,
Lawrence argues that his attorney: (1) failedhallenge his criminal history category at
sentencing; and (2) failed to move to dissnCount 40, the 18 U.S.€.922(g) (felon in
possession) charges in his indieint. Based on these allegationgwrence requests that the
court vacate, set aside, or correct his sentence.

STANDARD OF REVIEW UNDER 28 U.S.C. § 2255

The federal habeas corpus stef@8 U.S.C. § 2255, provides that:

A prisoner in custody under sentence obartestablished by Act of Congress claiming

the right to be released upon the ground thattntence was imposed in violation of the

Constitution or laws of the United Statesftuat the court was mhout jurisdiction to

impose such sentence, or that the sentensamexcess of the maximum authorized by

law, or is otherwise subject to collatesdiack, may move the court which imposed the
sentence to vacate, set aside, or correct the sentence.

The court should grant a hearing on the issais&d in the petitin unless the respondent
demonstrates conclusively that the petitionerasentitled to any form of relief. 28 U.S.C. §
2255. The court must grant a hearing if the halpetiton "alleges factthat, if proven, would
entitle” the petitioner to relieBoia v. United States, 22 F.3d 766, 768 (7th Cir. 1994) (citing
Pittman v. Warden, Pontiac Correctional Ctr., 960 F.2d 688, 691 (7th Cir. 1992)). The
petitioner must make specific, tdéded allegations in order to qualify for a hearing; conclusory
statements are insufficieree Daniels v. United Sates, 54 F.3d 290, 293-94 (7th Cir. 1995).

Petitions filed by pro se petitioners will be h&dda more liberal standard than those filed by

attorneysSee Hainesv. Kerner, 404 U.S. 519, 520, 92 S. Ct. 594, 30 L. Ed. 2d 652 (1972). Even



under this more liberal standard, however, noihgas required if the record conclusively
demonstrates that the petitionendt entitled to any form of relieDaniels, 54 F.3d at 293.
ANALYSIS

Lawrence claims that he is entitled to eéliue to the allegedeffectiveness of his
counsel in violation of his SiktAmendment rights. Ineffectivessistance of counsel claims are
examined under the two-pronged test established by the Supreme Gidkland v.
Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). This general tlestuses on “the legal profession’s
maintenance of standards” rather tlaagritique of counsel's performante. at 688. The
petitioner must meet both prongs of tiackland test or the claim faildd. at 687.

The first prong, the performance prong, examines whether counsel's defense meets the
standard of “reasonably effective assistante.To satisfy this png, the petitioner must
affirmatively demonstrate that “counsel’s repentation fell below an objective standard of
reasonablenessld. at 688. In making this determinatidhe court is to give a high level of
deference to counsel because it is all too eakinutsight, after the petitiondas lost his case, to
find that counsel’s lack of success fell below tbvel of representatn required by counsel to
provide.ld. at 689. The petitioner mustgwide clear evidence, in tlierm of specific acts or
omissions, to overcome this presumptih.at 689-90. The court mugiew the facts that the
petitioner presents from the ppestive of counsel at the tinodé the conduct alleged to be
inadequateld. at 689.

The second prong, the prejudice prong, examiviesther counsel’s act or omission had
an adverse effect on the deferigseat 692. This prong protectsaigst the situation where
counsel may have acted unreasonably but theagonable act or omission did not prejudice the

petitioner's defenséd. at 691-92. To satisfy this pronggthetitioner must affirmatively



demonstrate the prejudice thasuted, and must further demoragér that there is a “reasonable
probability” that his attorney’s acts or omissions affected the outdaim&t 693-94. The court
should make this determination inHigof the totality of the evidenchd. at 695.

A. Failureto Challenge Criminal History Category

Lawrence’s first ineffective assistance otiasel claim is that his attorney failed to
challenge his criminal history category at his saning. Specifically he claims that his attorney
did not challenge the inclusion of two juvenile offenses and also another enhancement that was
based on a determination that he was on probathen he commenced the instant offense,
when in fact, he did not become involved witle conspiracy until after his probation concluded.

Lawrence claims, and the government agrees, that two criminafyhpmints were
assigned to him in erroiSee Govt. Resp. Mot. Under 28 U.S.C. 82255, at 13-14 (“the
government recognizes that the record doesmitate that petitionerdjned the conspiracy]
within five years of his juveniladjudications or ofiis release from the sentence of confinement
for them”... nor does the record “indicate that defnt joined the conspiracy while serving [a]
probationary sentence.”).

Lawrence’s attorney did arguieat his 1995 convictiorhsuld not be counted for
purposes of either his criminkistory calculation or whether enhanced penalties applied. He
also argued in his sentencing memorandum thatdsea criminal history category I, not Ill.
However, Lawrence’s attorney did not raise disagreement specifically with the probation
officer’'s determination that defendant commenttedinstant offense “notiar than in or about
1994,” when, in fact, Petitioner did not becomespeally involved in the overall conspiracy
until later. The government concedes thae“tourt should grant the petition regarding

Petitioner’s sentence if it determines thattpmter suffered prejudice from the miscalculation of



his criminal history.” (Government’'s Resp. at)lTherefore, we turn to the second prong of the
Strickland test in order to determine whetheistbmission by Lawrence’s counsel had “an
adverse effect” on Lawrencé&ee Srickland, 466 U.S. at 692.

The second prong of ti&rickland test requires an examination of whether counsel's act
or omission had an adverse effect on the defédsat 692. Because of counsel’s error,
petitioner was incorrectly categorized as a Crimhhiatory category lll, rather than category I.
This resulted in his sentencing deline range being incorrectly detegned to be 360 months to
life imprisonment, rather thanelcorrect range of 292 to 324 monthighis Court concludes that
a different sentence may have been imposeci€threct guideline randead been established.
Therefore, Lawrence has met his burden of detnatnsg that there is a “reasonable probability”
that his attorney’s acts omissions affected the outcon®&rickland, 466 U.S. at 693-94.

B. Failureto Moveto Dismiss 18 U.S.C. 8922(g) Charge (Felon in Possession)

Lawrence’s second ineffective assistance of celuriaim is that his attorney failed to
timely move to dismiss the 18 U.S.C. §922(g) chamdss indictment. In the indictment filed
against Petitioner, he was charged with beindanfe possession of a firearm, in violation of
18 U.S.C. 8922(g). In fact however, Laweeis only qualifying prio conviction was expunged
in 1996. Consequently, after the jury triaha, the government made a motion to drop the
charge, which the Court granted. Petitioner argues that his trial attorney was unreasonable for
failing to move to dismiss this count before treahd that he was prejudiced as a result of the
government’s reference to him as altin” during its opening statement.

Petitioner did not suffer any prejudice as a ltesilthis situation. The only mention that
the jury heard of felony status was during the government’s opening statement. This Court

already determined, when denying the petitioner’'s motion for a atjdtrat it is “fanciful to



believe that in coursef [a] three-and-a-halhonth trial the one refenee to defendant Andre
Lawrence’s felon status affectdte outcome of the case.” (Goverant’'s Resp. at 11 (citing Tr.
(6/29/05) 24).) Since Petitner did not suffer any prejudicee need not address whether
counsel’s representation wasasonable in this regard.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Lawrence’stpmtiis granted with respect to his trial
attorney’s failure to challenge his criminal higt@ategory. It is hereby dered that his criminal
case (02 CR 200-22) be re-opened for the pugrokeonducting a new sentencing hearing.

It is so ordered.

é‘) \//uz, é/m

WayneR. Andersen
United StateDistrict Judge

Dated: May 5, 2010



